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Our Vision

To be the leading provider of quality banking and financial services locally,
regionally and beyond.

Our Mission

To understand and fully meet the needs of customers through product relevance,
service excellence, and the convenience of technologically-based delivery
systems, while making valuable contributions to the development of Antigua
and Barbuda and the wider Eastern Caribbean.

Strategic Intent

ECAB’s strategic intent is Operational Eﬃciency. The bank’s mantra is: Get It
Right The First Time, Every Time.

Cultural Pillar

The operations of the bank have been built on the pillars of Customer Intimacy
and Service Excellence.
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NOTICE OF MEETING
NOTICE is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank
Ltd will be held at the Conference Room of the Sandals Grande Resort, Dickenson Bay, St. John’s,
Antigua on the 7th day of September, 2012 at 5:00 p.m.

AGENDA
1. Call to Order
2. Adoption of the Agenda
3. Chairman’s Remarks to Shareholders
4. Director’s Report
5. Auditors’ Report and Financial Statement for the year ended September 30, 2011
6. Confirmation of Directors
7. Appointment of Auditors
8. Any Other Business

By Order of the Board of Directors

Gail S. Pero
Corporate Secretary
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Directors’ Report
The Directors of Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated
Bank Limited are pleased to submit their Report for
the bank’s financial year ended 30 September, 2011.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND
DIVIDENDS
The bank made a profit of $1.0 million before the

BOARD COMPOSITION
Section 4.2 of the Bank’s By-Laws provides for a
minimum of seven (7) directors and a maximum of
eleven (11) directors. The Board comprises of seven
(7) independent non-executive directors.
The elected Chairman of the Board is Sir Edmund
Lawrence, assisted by his Deputy Chairman, Mr.
Robert Norstrom. Other members of the Board are
Mr. Craig Walter, Mr. Gladston Joseph, Mr. Whitfield
Harris, Mr. Bernard Thomas, and Mr. Derry Williams.
In accordance with Section 4.4 of the Bank’s By-Laws,
directors shall hold oﬃce from the date of appointment
until the close of the next annual meeting of the
shareholders, and shall be eligible for re-election if
still qualified.

BOARD COMMITTEES

provision of $2.3 million for the diminution in the
value of the Government of St. Kitts and Nevis bond.
The provision resulted in the bank recording a loss of
$1.3 million for its first year of operation as is further
discussed in the following ECAB Management Report.
Therefore, the Directors do not recommend payment
of a dividend.

AUDITORS
The auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers retire and oﬀer
themselves for re-election. A resolution to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

To assist the Board in conducting its management
and fiduciary responsibilities, the following Board
Committees have been established:
1. Credit Committee
Sir Edmund Lawrence (Chairman)
2. Human Resources Committee
Mr. Derry Williams (Chairman)
3. Audit Committee
Mr. Craig Walter (Chairman)

GAIL S. PERO
Corporate Secretary

The Committees provided Management with strong
support to address the various operational challenges
within the banking sector and the bank in particular.
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Management Report
Our Beginning

Our Year in Review

Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Ltd (ECAB)
commenced operation on 18th October, 2010, having
purchased and assumed certain assets and liabilities
from the Bank of Antigua Ltd. With a vision of
establishing the institution as the foremost indigenous
commercial bank, our paramount consideration
was the emphasis of brand awareness, product
development and business expansion.

The global financial crisis continued to adversely
impact the Country’s primary economic sectors,
which included tourism, construction and agriculture.
This was fueled by high unemployment levels and
sluggish economic growth in two major tourism
markets, namely, the USA and Europe. In addition,
the collapse of a number of financial institutions and
local businesses triggered unprecedented levels of
unemployment and a corresponding reduction in
Government revenue.

Our strategic intent, “service excellence”, is delivered
from a platform of customer intimacy and product
relevance. To this end, the institution has enhanced
a number of existing products and services, as well
as established key alliances with local, regional and
international entities in its thrust to provide quality
banking and financial services.

Corporate Governance Principles
Sound corporate governance is undoubtedly critical to
our institution’s integrity and to maintaining investors’
trust. It is also a pivotal feature for the cultivation and
improvement of public confidence with respect to our
activities, our policies and our performance.
This responsibility lies with our Board of Directors,
which oversees how management serves the
interest of shareholders and other stakeholders. In
accomplishing this, the Board has adopted a structure
that ensures its complete independence whilst being
kept fully informed of key risks and strategy issues
facing the bank.
With their expansive commercial banking knowledge
and appreciation of the unique attributes of the local
and regional financial sectors, the Board endeavours to
lead the institution towards continuous improvement
in the quality and scope of its management framework.
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DEPOSITS
Despite the challenges of a sluggish economy,
the bank attracted $54.4 million in new customer
deposits during the fiscal year 2011. These accounts
strengthened the bank’s liquidity position and also
created opportunities for the Bank to successfully
oﬀer its other products and services to customers.

LOANS AND ADVANCES
Loans and advances purchased from the Bank of
Antigua Ltd. exceeded the assumed liabilities for
customer deposits by 125 per cent. As a result,
management embarked on measures to improve
the bank’s loans to deposits ratio and was selective
in on-boarding new loans.
Loans and advances contracted by $25.3 million
or 7.44 per cent for the year under review as loan
repayments exceeded new loans being booked.
Loan loss provisions were made in accordance
with IAS 39 and the ECCB Prudential Guidelines.
A provision of $3.5 million was necessary due to the
deterioration of the collateral held on certain loans
and advances purchased from Bank of Antigua
Ltd. and from the eﬀects of a local economy of
high unemployment and/or under employment.

Management will continue to seek new
opportunities to on-board quality loans and
advances and to eﬀectively manage its nonperforming loans and advances portfolio in the
fiscal year 2012.

PERFORMANCE
For its first year of operation, the bank initially
had a better than expected net result of operation
of $1.0M. However, two months after the close
of the financial year and while the external audit
was still underway, the Government of St Kitts and
Nevis decided to restructure its debt resulting in
the diminution in value of the $4.0M 2012 bond
held by the bank. The bank decided to take a
conservative approach by recognising a writedown of $2.3M in the value of this investment.
This resulted in the posting of a net loss of $1.3
million for this first year of operation.
ECAB maintained a competitive advantage in the
pricing of its loans and deposits. An interest rate
spread of 4% was maintained for the year under
review.
Operating expenditure was closely monitored and
compared favourably with the budget except for
the provisions for diminution in investment value
and loan loss.

CAPITAL
Total regulatory capital increased by $45.1
million during the year driven by the issuance of
100,000 convertible, redeemable, non-cumulative
preferred shares to the Government of Antigua
and Barbuda.
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory
capital are monitored by Management’s use of
techniques based on the guidelines developed
by the Basel Committee and the European
Community Directives, as implemented by the
ECCB for supervisory purposes. The Committee
recommends a Tier 1 Capital (core capital) to risk
weighted assets of 4 per cent and a minimum Tier
2 Capital (total qualifying capital) to risk weighted
assets of 8 per cent.

At 30th September, 2011, the bank’s Tier 1 Capital
ratio stood at 49.1 per cent and total qualifying
capital to risk weighted assets stood at 49.3 per
cent; far in excess of the minimum requirement.
Thus, the bank has more than adequate capital to
protect against credit and market risk.

Our Future
“Stronger together” has been the resounding theme
of our institution. We believe in, and will continue to
emphasise, strength in unity.
Together, the Board of Directors, Management and
Staﬀ will:Continue to apply capital discipline to
investment decisions through rigourous
commercial analysis so as to ensure enhanced
value on returns for shareholders;
Continue to provide convenient and superior
banking products and services;
Increase liquidity and provide financial support
to our customers at competitive rates with
superior service;
Promote personal development amongst
employees by providing training relevant to
their satisfactory accomplishment of duties
and functions and encouraging interest in their
respective welfare;
Support local and regional educational, cultural,
religious and social pursuits that promote the
advancement of our citizenry.
Management wishes to express its sincere gratitude
to our ECAB Team and to our customers for their
unwavering loyalty. Whilst our financial result was a
net loss, we are very pleased with our progress and are
confident that the institution is positioned to navigate
the current economic turbulence.
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The Board of Directors

Left to right: Top Row
Bernard Thomas - Director (National Bank of Dominica) • Gladston Joseph - Director (Antigua Commercial Bank)
Derry Williams - Director (Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines) • Craig Walter - Director (Antigua Commercial Bank)

Seated
Robert Norstrom - Vice Chairman (Eastern Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited)
Sir Edmund Lawrence - Chairman (St. Kitts Nevis Anguilla National Bank)
Whitfield Harris - Director (Government of Antigua and Barbuda)
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Executive Management

Left to right:
Valerie Acosta - Executive Manager Operations • Donna Cort - Executive Manager Finance & Accounting
William McDavid - Deputy General Manager • Henry Hazel - General Manager
Sophie Thomas-Durand - Executive Manager Information Systems
Peter Quinn - Executive Manager Internal Audit
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Senior Management

Left to right:
Carol George-Martin - Senior Manager Banking Services • V. Alicia Gardner - Senior Manager Credit (Ag.)
Lauren Philip - Senior Manager Human Resources • Debra Williams - Senior Manager Risk & Compliance (Ag.)
Sonya Roberts-Carter - Senior Manager Corporate & Client Relations
Norris Antonio - Senior Manager Recoveries & Security Administration
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Management

Left to right:
Yvonne Hanley - Manager Support Services • Gevon Dash - Manager Finance & Accounting
Tracy Kentish - Manager Card Services • Harold Barriteau - Manager Information Systems
Eleanor Mourillon - Manager Banking Services
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Corporate Social
Responsibility
The Bank is committed to playing an active role in improving the social and economic welfare of the community
in which it operates.
ECAB’s philanthropic and non-commercial sponsorships are primarily focused on the Bank’s priorities of
sports, health, education, arts, culture, and the community, with the greater emphasis being placed on youth/
educational initiatives.

EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT
SUPPORTOFADULTEDUCATIONPROGRAMMES
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) Workshop
In support of continued educational development
among accounting professionals, ECAB hosted a twoday continued education seminar on IFRS standards.
On the 14th and 15th of July, 2011 ECAB hosted this
workshop to educate its staﬀ and public accountants,
in various areas of Accounting Standards.

CONTRIBUTION TO RESEARCH INITIATIVES
Support of the 2011 Census
In support of the 2011 Census, ECAB extended
financial assistance to the Statistics Division by,
funding the cost of printing flyers which highlighted
the importance of the population census. This flyer
was used to promote participation from all sectors of
society. ECAB also donated cobranded pencils with
the Census Slogan “Cooperate! Participate! Make
Census 2011 Great!”.
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The 2011 Housing and Population Census in Antigua
& Barbuda was oﬃcially launched on May 27, 2011
with a press conference which oﬀered the opportunity
for residents to learn more about the exercise, its
importance and benefits to the socio-economic
development in the
country and to the
wider sub-region.
Prime
Minister
Baldwin Spencer
was the keynote
speaker in addition
to representatives
from the United
Nations Population
Fund and Caricom.

COMMUNITY OUTREACH
& SOCIAL SERVICES
DONATIONS TO CHURCH,CIVIC GROUPS,COMMUNITY ORGANISATIONS
ECAB has been committed to making donations and assisting various groups with events within the
community. The Bank supported and participated in the following events:

THE PANACHE STEEL ORCHESTRA
Grand fund-raising Mothers Day Concert entitled “A Treat for
Mothers III” was held at the Precision Centre in the Paynters
Industrial Park. ECAB was approached to lend a helping hand,
and with great pleasure, the bank responded with a financial
contribution to cover cost in aiding the special event. The
event also included a special address to the youth by guest
speaker Errol Fabian. Mr. Fabian is a Trinidadian and a past
substance user who celebrated 20 years of being drug free and
is passionate about having dialogue with the youth about the
dangers of drug use and abuse.

JCI ANTIGUA - YOUTH
EMPOWERMENT PROGRAMME
(YEP)
ECAB partnered with JCI over the last financial year by
making a financial contribution to their annual Youth
Empowerment Programme. This Programme was an
opportunity for the bank to continue to give assistance to the
development of young people. The programme involved a
Public Speaking Competition, Youth Symposium and Essay
Writing Competition.
Junior Chamber International (JCI) Antigua is a nonprofit organisation that executes a number of projects and
programs which provides development opportunities that
empower young people to create positive change within our
global communities. JCI Antigua continues to make positive
contributions to our community through various projects
each year.
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OPTIMIST PETIT SHOW
The Optimist Club of Antigua is a volunteer organisation
with a strong focus on providing community service to the
youth. Their motto is “Friend of Youth”. ECAB fully supports
Optimist’s dedication to ‘Bringing Out the Best in Kids’ and will
continue to work with the organisation on ventures that make
a positive diﬀerence in the lives of our young people. As a new
banking institution, we are dedicated to assisting projects in
our communities aimed at empowering young people to be the
best they can be.

ANTIGUA BARBUDA DEFENCE
FORCE 30TH ANNIVERSARY
CELEBRATIONS
ECAB has shown support to the Antigua Barbuda Defence
Force (ABDF) as it celebrated its 30th Anniversary.
The ABDF has responsibility for internal security, prevention
of drug smuggling, the protection, and support of fishing
rights, prevention of marine pollution, search and rescue,
ceremonial duties, assistance to government programmes,
provision of relief during natural disasters, assistance in the
maintenance of essential services and support of the police
in maintaining law and order.

HAITI DONATION FUND
ACCOUNT
ECAB is a bank for the people and as such took extreme
delight in leading the charge, to raise funds for our fellow
Caribbean Nationals. In 2010 following the earthquake
in Haiti, an account was created to provide a convenient
way for the bank’s customers, and the community at large,
to make donations to help Haiti. Customers seized the
opportunity and made donations through the convenience
of the bank’s branches, ATMs and Online Banking services.
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In January 2011, the Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank
(ECAB) and its customers amassed US$5,000 and made an
invaluable contribution to the recovery and development
eﬀorts in Haiti.

SPORTS
SUPPORT OF LOCAL ATHLETES THROUGH SPONSORSHIP OF INDIVIDUALS,
TEAMS, AND LEAGUES
ECAB is committed to providing financial assistance as well as direct involvement to various teams and
sporting events that seek to further develop individual athletic abilities. In keeping with our commitment
to corporate social responsibility, ECAB actively pursues community involvement in sporting events.

ANTIGUA &BARBUDA BASKETBALL ASSOCIATION
(ABBA) 2011 LEAGUE
The Antigua & Barbuda Basketball Association is a member of the
International Basketball Federation (FIBA), under the Central America and
the Caribbean (CAC) jurisdiction of the Central American and Caribbean
Confederations of basketball (CONCECABA) sub-grouping. ABBA is
tasked with administering the business of basketball in the twin island
Caribbean state of Antigua & Barbuda and is the oﬃcially sanctioned FIBA
representative for the islands.

3RD ANNUAL CPTSA SIR REGINALD SAMUEL
TRACK AND FIELD CLASSIC
The Concerned Parents/Teachers Sports Association (CPTSA)
hosted the 3rd Annual Sir Reginald Samuel Track & Field
classic, which
included both local and regional club teams.
ECAB’s financial contribution, support and direct involvement
were critical to the success of the track & field event.
The purpose of this event was to create a professional avenue
where young talented athletes can exhibit their skills, which could
potentially open doors for bigger opportunities. This event was
held to honor one of the most outstanding sports oﬃcials, who has
been responsible for keeping sports alive within the community, Sir
Reginald Samuel.
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GOLFEXPERIENCECARIBBEANPRESENTS:
INET INTERNATIONAL PAIRS
ECAB was given the opportunity to be branded as “The
Oﬃcial Banking Partner” of this prestigious tournament.
The proceeds from this event were designated for donation
to Mr. Winston Davis a former cricketer, who is a tetraplegic
currently living in the UK.

NATIONAL SAILING ACADEMY
ECAB this past year forged powerful links with the future of sailing in Antigua
and Barbuda with the launch of a donation account to facilitate members of
the public wishing to support the development of the sport locally.
This initiative raised funds to operate and upgrade the National Sailing
Academy facilities, and represents a long term commitment by ECAB towards
the development of the entire yachting and marine industry.
The creation of the National Sailing Academy is seen as a significant
opportunity for all youth to be introduced to an industry with tremendous
potential for growth and professional careers as captains, crew members,
boatswains, engineers etc.
ECAB is committed to ventures that promote giving back to the community in
activities that bring lasting benefits locally and regionally. The National Sailing
Academy gives every child the opportunity to learn sailing free of charge as a
part of the national school curriculum.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2011
(EXPRESSED IN EASTERN CARIBBEAN DOLLARS)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of
Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited, which comprise the
statement of financial position as of September 30, 2011 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows
for the period from October 18, 2010 to September 30, 2011 and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Eastern Caribbean
Amalgamated Bank Limited as of September 30, 2011 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the period from October 18,
2010 to September 30, 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
July 13, 2012
St. John’s, Antigua
PricewaterhouseCoopers, 11 Old Parham Road • P.O. Box 1531 • St. John’s, Antigua, West Indies
T: (268)-462-3000 • F: (268)-462-1902 • www.pwc.com/ag

“PricewaterhouseCoopers” refers to the PricewaterhouseCoopers East Caribbean Firm. A full listing of the partners of the East Caribbean Firm is available on request at the
above address.
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Statement of Financial Position
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As of September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30
2011
$

At
Commencement
date of
October 18
2010
$

Cash and balances with the Central Bank (note 5)
Due from banks and other financial institutions (note 6)
Investment securities (note 7)
Loans and advances to customers (note 8)
Other assets (note 9)
Property, plant and equipment (note 10)
Intangible assets (note 11)

30,791,133
15,381,370
47,015,994
313,134,293
1,085,388
6,129,277
4,342,876

8,202,756
4,693,221
4,489,217
340,058,881
18,136,317
5,576,356
4,601,486

Total assets

417,880,331

385,758,234

Customers’ deposits (note 12)
Other liabilities and accrued expenses (note 13)
Short term borrowings (note 14)
Provisions (note 15)
Subscription for preference shares (note 17)

344,325,956
2,937,749
–
–
–

289,915,553
4,373,342
16,600,000
3,000,000
47,869,339

Total liabilities

347,263,705

361,758,234

Preference shares (note 16)
Common shares (note 16)
Other reserves (note 18)
Deficit

47,869,339
24,000,000
2,643,705
(3,896,418)

–
24,000,000
–
–

Total equity

70,616,626

24,000,000

417,880,331

385,758,234

Assets

Liabilities

Equity

Total liabilities and equity
The notes on pages 24 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors on July 13, 2012

____________________________________
_____
_ __
____
____
________
____
______________________ Chairman
__

____________________________________
Director
______
____________________
___
____
____
__
____
____
_
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the period from October 18, 2010 to September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2011
$
Operating income
Interest income (note 23)
Interest expense (note 23)

29,417,045
(11,488,308)

Net interest income
Loan impairment charges (note 8)

17,928,737
(3,651,408)

Net interest income after loan impairment charges

14,277,329

Fee and commission income (note 24)
Fee and commission expense (note 24)

5,193,730
(2,533,731)

Net fee income
Other income (note 25)
Net interest, fee, commission and other income
Expenses
Personnel expenses (note 26)
General and administrative expenses (note 27)
Impairment of investment securities (note 7)
Amortization of intangible assets (note 11)
Depreciation of property and equipment (note 10)

2,659,999
524,406
17,461,734
7,512,111
7,466,465
2,262,742
778,352
694,777

Total operating expenses

18,714,447

Operating loss for the period

(1,252,713)

Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive loss for the period
The notes on pages 24 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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–
(1,252,713)

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED
Statement of Cash Flows
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For the period from October 18, 2010 to September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the period
from October
18 2011 to
September 30
2011
$

At
Commencement
date of
October 18
2010
$

(1,252,713)

–

(29,417,045)
11,488,308
694,777
778,352
3,651,408
2,262,742
(37,450)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(11,831,621)

–

Net (increase)/decrease in operating assets
Loans and advances to customers
Mandatory deposits with the Central Bank
Other assets
Restricted deposits

25,218,870
(9,418,784)
17,050,929
1,160,438

–
–
–
–

Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Provisions

53,863,747
(1,435,593)
(3,000,000)

–
–
–

71,607,986
27,225,360
(10,941,652)

–
–
–

87,891,694

–

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of plant and equipment
Purchase of investment securities
Purchase of intangible assets
Acquisition of net assets in business combination net of cash acquired (note 19)

(1,247,698)
(14,408,078)
(519,742)
–

–
–
–
4,615,228

Net cash (used in) from investing activities

(16,175,518)

4,615,228

Cash flows from financing activities
Short term borrowings
Cash received from shareholders for purchase consideration (note 19)

(16,600,000)
–

1

Net cash used in financing activities

(16,600,000)

1

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating loss for the period
Adjustments for items not affecting cash:
Interest income
Interest expense
Depreciation
Amortization of intangible assets
Provision for loan impairment charges
Provision for impairment of investments
Other non-cash items
Cash flows used in operating activities

Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash from operating activities
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Statement of Cash Flows... continued

For the period from October 18, 2010 to September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30
2011
$
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note 22)
The notes on pages 24 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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At Commencement
date of
October 18
2010
$

55,116,176

4,615,229

37,450

–

4,615,229

–

59,768,855

4,615,229

–

24,000,000

47,869,339

The notes on pages 24 to 90 are an integral part of these financial statements.

At September 30, 2011

–

–

Reserve for interest recognised on impaired loans
(note 8)

–

–

Reserve for loan loss provision (note 8)

–

–

24,000,000

Common
shares
$

–

47,869,339

Preference
shares
$

Comprehensive loss for the period

Issuance of preference shares

At commencement date of October 18, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the period from October 18, 2010 to September 30, 2011

Statement of Changes in Equity

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

–

–

–

2,643,705

1,256,921

1,386,784

Other
reserves
$

–

–

(3,896,418)

(1,256,921)

(1,386,784)

(1,252,713)

Retained
earnings
$

70,616,626

–

–

(1,252,713)

47,869,339

24,000,000

Total
$
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September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

1. General information
Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited (the “Bank”) is a limited liability company incorporated on July 16,
2009 in Antigua and Barbuda under the provisions of the Antigua Companies Act 1995. The Bank is licensed to carry
on banking business in Antigua and Barbuda and is regulated by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank in accordance
with the Banking Act No. 14 of 2005 and the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Act No. 10 of 1983. The Bank provides
a complete range of commercial banking services.
On October 18, 2010, the Bank purchased certain assets and liabilities from Bank of Antigua Limited (see note 19) and
began trading on that date.
The Bank’s registered office is located at 1000 Airport Boulevard, Coolidge, Antigua.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and IFRIC interpretations. The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
a) New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Bank
There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the financial period beginning on or after October
18, 2010 that would be expected to have a material impact on the Bank.
b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the financial period beginning on
October 18, 2010 and not early adopted
•

IAS 24 (revised), ‘Related party disclosures’, issued in November 2009. It supersedes IAS 24, ‘Related party
disclosures’, issued in 2003. IAS 24 (revised) is mandatory for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011.
Earlier application, in whole or in part, is permitted. The revised standard clarifies and simplifies the definition of
a related party and removes the requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions
with the government and other government-related entities. The Bank will apply the revised standard from October
1, 2011. It is not possible at this stage to disclose the impact, if any, of the revised standard on the related party
disclosures.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the financial period beginning on October 18,
2010 and not early adopted… continued
 IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and
financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification
and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement
categories: those measured at fair value and those measured at amortised cost. The determination is made at initial
recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39
requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part
of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the
income statement, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The Bank is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact and intends
to adopt IFRS 9 no later than the accounting period beginning on or after January 1, 2015.
 IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise
definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across
IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned between IFRSs and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value
accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other
standards within IFRSs or US GAAP. The Bank is yet to assess IFRS13’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 13 no
later than the accounting period beginning on or after January 1, 2012.
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material
impact on the Bank.

2.2 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, non-mandatory deposits with the ECCB, deposits held at call with banks,
and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

2.3 Financial assets and liabilities
2.3.1 Financial assets
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following IAS 39 categories: loans and receivables, held-to- maturity
financial assets and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.3 Financial assets and liabilities ... continued
2.3.1 Financial assets ... continued
(a) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market other than:
(i) those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are classified as held for trading, and
those that the entity upon initial recognition designates at fair value through profit or loss;
(ii) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or
(iii) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit
deterioration.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value - which is the cash consideration to originate or purchase the
loan including any transaction costs - and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Loans and receivables are reported in the statement of financial position as loans and advances to customers
or as investment securities. Interest on loans is included in income and is reported as ‘Interest income’. In the case of an
impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income as ‘Loan impairment charges’.
(b) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which
may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices, or that are
not classified as loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments. They are included in non-current assets unless the
investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration including any
transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised in the other
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the financial asset
is derecognized. If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised within ‘other comprehensive income’ in the comprehensive income is recognised in the operating
profit/loss. However, interest is calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign currency gains and losses on
monetary assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(c) Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities
that the Bank’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than:
(a) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss;
(b) those that the Bank designates as available for sale; and
(c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.3 Financial assets and liabilities ... continued
2.3.1 Financial assets ... continued
(c) Held-to-maturity financial assets ... continued
These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and measured subsequently
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
Interest on held-to-maturity investments is included in the statement of comprehensive income and reported as ‘Interest
income’. In the case of an impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the
investment and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as ‘Impairment of investment securities’.
(d) Recognition
The Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial asset transactions. Financial
assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for derecognition are presented in the statement of
financial position as ‘Assets pledged as collateral’, if the transferee has the right to sell or re-pledge them.
2.3.2 Financial liabilities
The Bank’s holding in financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when extinguished. Financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost are deposits from banks or customers, short term borrowings, other financial liabilities and
accrued expenses.
2.3.3 De-recognition
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these assets have ceased to
exist or the assets have been transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are also
transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and rewards have not been transferred, the Bank tests control to ensure
that continuing involvement on the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent derecognition). Financial
liabilities are de-recognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.

Annual Report 2011

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

-28-

September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.3 Financial assets and liabilities ... continued
2.3.5 Classes of financial instruments
The Bank classifies its financial instruments into classes that reflect the nature of the information and take into account
the characteristics of those financial instruments. The classification made can be seen in the table below:

Due from banks and other financial
institutions

Loans and advances
to individuals
Loans and
receivables

Loans and
advances to
customers

Financial assets
Investment
securities

Loans and advances
to corporate entities
Loans and advances
to government and
statutory bodies
Treasury bills
Debt instruments

Deposits with the
Central Bank
Correspondent bank
accounts
Fixed deposits
Credit Cards
Overdrafts
Mortgage loans
Demand loans
Rebate Loans
Overdrafts
Mortgage loans
Demand Loans
Overdrafts
Loans
Local treasury bills
Quoted
Unquoted

Other assets
Available-for-sale
financial assets

Investment
securities

Held-to-Maturity

Investment
securities

Debt instruments
Equity securities

Quoted
Unquoted
Quoted
Unquoted

Debt instruments

Customers’ deposits
Financial
liabilities

Amortised cost
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.4 Impairment of financial assets
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if,
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
(iii) the lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a
concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
(iv) it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
(v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio
of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the
individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:
(i) adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; or
(ii) national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.
The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by management for each identified
portfolio. In general, the periods used vary between three months and 12 months; in exceptional cases, longer periods
are warranted.
The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount is then reduced to the recoverable amount as at the date of
the statement of financial position. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.4. Impairment of financial assets … continued
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost … continued
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the
cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure
is probable.
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk
characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Bank’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location,
collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future
cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the
basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data
to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based
and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist.
Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with changes
in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates, property prices,
payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the group and their magnitude). The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are
written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Impairment charges relating to loans and advances to banks and customers are classified in loan impairment charges
whilst impairment charges relating to investment securities (held to maturity and loans and receivables categories) are
classified in ‘Impairment of investment securities’.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is objective evidence of impairment resulting in the recognition of
an impairment loss.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.4. Impairment of financial assets … continued
(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale … continued
If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in
profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses
recognised in the profit and loss within the statement of comprehensive income on equity instruments are not reversed
through operating profit within the statement of comprehensive income.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment
loss is reversed through operating profit within the statement of comprehensive income.
(c) Renegotiated Loans
Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant and whose terms have been
renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due, but are treated as new loans. In subsequent years, the asset is
considered to be past due and disclosed only if renegotiated again.

2.5 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.6 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when: the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.7 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation … continued
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of assets is calculated using the straight-line method at rates considered
appropriate to allocate the value of an asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life of the asset at the
following annual rates:
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles

50 years
3- 10 years
3 -10 years
3 – 5 years
3 – 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the statement
of financial position. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. No property, plant and equipment were impaired as at September 30, 2011.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within ‘other income’ in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.8 Intangible assets
Separately acquired intangible assets are shown at historical cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortized using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful economic life, generally not exceeding 20 years. At each date of
the statement of financial position, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated
future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying
amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested annually for impairment or whenever there is an indication that
the asset may be impaired.
Computer software
Acquired computer software licences in a business combination are recorded at their fair values and are amortised over
their estimated useful lives of three to five years.
Customer list intangible
The customer list intangible is an intangible asset that represents the intrinsic value that is contained in the customer
deposit base. It is recognised because it is separable and the cost can be reliably measured. The value of the customer
list acquired in the business combination is generally determined using income approach methodologies such as the
discounted cash flow method. The customer list intangible is stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for impairment,
if any, plus reversals of impairment, if any. The asset is amortized over its estimated useful life of 11 years over the
expected life of the customer relationship.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.9 Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Bank operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars,
which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Eastern Caribbean dollars at the
closing rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency transactions are translated at the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains or losses arising from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

2.10 Share capital
Ordinary shares and preference shares that do not exhibit any debt characteristics are classified as equity. Mandatorily
redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.11 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business, if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables
are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets
Intangible assets that are not subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash in flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. No
non-financial assets were impaired in 2011.

2.13 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged
to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.14 Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the Bank in exchange for control of the business.
Acquired assets and liabilities assumed are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Bank reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

2.15 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within ‘interest income’ and
‘interest expense’ in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument
or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees
and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss,
interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.16 Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan commitment
fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.

2.17 Employee Benefits
The Bank facilitates loans to its staff at rates that are relatively low in comparison to the normal market rates in the
Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU). These loans are recognised at fair value using a normal market rate, and
the difference between the fair value and the consideration given to the employees is recorded as a pre-paid short
term employee benefit. The pre-paid short-term employee benefit is amortised through the separate statement of
comprehensive income over the expected service life of the relevant individual employees or the expected life of the
relevant individual loans, whichever is shorter.

2.18 Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of customers
to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was
given. The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all guarantees are agreed on
arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the guarantee obligation. No
receivable for the future premiums is recognised. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liabilities under such
guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees recognised in accordance with
IAS 18, and the best estimate of the amount required to settle the guarantee. These estimates are determined based on
experience of similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by the judgement of management. The fee
income earned is recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating
to guarantees is reported in the statement of comprehensive income within other operating expenses.
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2. Significant accounting policies … continued
2.19 Current and deferred income taxes
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in Antigua and Barbuda. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authority.
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.
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3.

Financial risk management
The Bank’s business involves taking on risks in a targeted manner and managing them professionally. The core functions
of the Bank’s risk management policies and procedures are to identify all key risks for the Bank, measure these risks,
manage the risk positions and determine capital allocations. The Bank regularly reviews its risk management policies
and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and best market practice.
The Bank’s aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on
the Bank’s financial performance.
The Bank defines risk as the possibility of losses or profits foregone, which may be caused by internal or external factors.
Risk management is carried out by the Bank’s Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) under policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The ALCO committee identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the Bank’s operating departments. The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. In addition, internal audit
is responsible for the independent review of risk management and the control environment.
The risks arising from financial instruments to which the Bank is exposed are financial risks, which include credit risk,
liquidity risk, market risk (which are discussed below) and operational risk.

3.1

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Bank’s customers, clients or market counterparties
fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial and consumer loans
and advances, credit cards, and loan commitments arising from such lending activities, but can also arise from credit
enhancement provided, such as financial guarantees and letters of credit.
The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities.
Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to
credit risk. The credit risk management and control including risk on debt securities, cash, loans and advances, credit
cards and loan commitments are monitored by the credit risk committee, which reports to the Board of Directors and the
Executive Management team regularly.
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3. Financial risk management
3.1.1 Credit risk measurement
(a) Loans and advances (including loan commitments and guarantees)
The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with
changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio
of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default
correlations between counterparties.
The Bank assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools tailored to the
various categories of the counterparty. They have been developed based on the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank’s
guidelines. Customers of the Bank are segmented into five rating classes. The Bank’s rating scale, which is shown below,
reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class. This means that, in principle, exposures migrate
between classes as the assessment of their probability of default changes. The ratings tools are kept under review and
upgraded as necessary.
Bank’s rating

Description of the grade

1
2
3
4
5

Pass
Special mention
Sub-standard
Doubtful
Loss

(b) Debt and equity securities
The Bank’s portfolio of debt and equity securities and other bills consists of Government of St. Kitts bond, Government
of Antigua and Barbuda treasury bills, bonds and corporate bonds. The bonds are quoted but not traded in an
active market. The Bank assesses the risk of default on these instruments by regularly monitoring the performance
of the respective Governments through published government data, information received directly from government
departments and information published by international agencies such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the
World Bank. The risk of default on regional corporate debt is assessed by continuous monitoring of the performance of
these companies through published financial information, and other data gleaned from various sources.

3.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Bank manages limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified, in particular to individual
counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to
one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject
to regular review by the Board of Directors.
The exposure to any one borrower, including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering on and off
balance sheet exposures. Actual exposures against limits are monitored, on an ongoing basis.
Lending limits are reviewed in light of changing market and economic conditions and periodic credit reviews and
assessments of probability of default.
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3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies … continued
Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below:
a) Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the taking of
security for funds advanced, which is a common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific
classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans and advances are as follows:
 Mortgages over properties
 Charges over business assets, primarily the premises
 Hypothecation of deposits
Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; individual credit facilities are generally
secured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss, the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty
as soon as there are impairment indicators for the relevant individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
b) Financial guarantees (for credit related commitments)
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees
and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit which are
written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a
stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions are collateralised by the underlying shipment of goods to which
they relate, and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees
or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss
in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused
commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards.
The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a
greater degree of credit risk than shorter term commitments.

3.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies
The internal rating system described in Note 3.1.1 focuses on expected credit losses – that is, taking into account the risk
of future events giving rise to loss. In contrast, impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes
only for losses that have been incurred at the date of the statement of financial position, based on the objective evidence
of impairment. Due to the different methodologies applied, the amount of incurred credit losses provided for in the
financial statements is usually lower than the amount determined from the expected loss model that is used for internal
operational management and banking regulation purposes.
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3. Financial risk management... continued
3.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies … continued
The impairment allowance shown in the statement of financial position at year end is derived from each of the five rating
grades. However, the largest component of the impairment allowance comes from the loss grades. The table below shows
the percentage of the Bank’s on- and off-balance sheet items, such as financial guarantees, loan commitments and other
credit related obligations, relating to loans and advances and the associated impairment allowance for each of the
Bank’s rating categories. There was no impairment allowance on the balance sheet as at October 18, 2010 as all loans
were recognised at their fair values.
Loans and
advances
$

%

Impairment
provision
$

%

Net total
$

81,825,486

26

–

0

81,825,486

205,803,417

65

(434,760)

14

205,368,657

24,220,370

8

(877,621)

27

23,342,749

Doubtful

1,287,036

0

(287,864)

9

999,172

Loss

1,634,059

1

(1,610,412)

50

23,647

100

(3,210,657)

100

311,559,711

At September 30, 2011
Pass
Special Mention
Substandard

Gross loans and advances

314,770,368

Interest receivable
Deferred loan origination fees
Inherent risk provision

1,945,690

–

–

–

1,945,690

(38,220)

–

–

–

(38,220)

–

–

(332,888)

–

(332,888)

316,677,838

FINANCIAL STATEMENT • SEPTEMBER 30TH 2011

100

(3,543,545)

100

313,134,293

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2011

-41-

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

15,381,370

4,693,221

41,935,276

58,357

- Held-to-maturity investments

3,237,600

4,325,000

- Available-for-sale investments – government securities (quoted)

1,737,258

–

313,134,293

340,058,881

34,100

16,205,706

375,459,897

365,341,165

September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

1,782,000

27,000

10,471,181

12,257,675

12,253,181

12,284,675

387,713,078

377,625,840

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets:
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Investment securities:
- Loans and receivables

Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items:
Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related facilities

Total credit exposure
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3. Financial risk management... continued
3.1.4

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued

The above table represents a worse case scenario of credit risk exposures to the Bank as of September 30, 2011,
without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance sheet assets, the
exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position.
As shown above, 81% of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers and 12% is
derived from investment securities.
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Bank
resulting from both its loans and advances portfolio and debt securities based on the following:
 91% of the loans and advances portfolio are categorised in the top two grades of the internal rating system;
 37% of the loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired; and
 11 % of loans and advances are considered impaired.

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure
(a) Geographical sectors
The following table analyses the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, (without taking into account
any collateral held or other credit support) as categorised by geographical region as at September 30, 2011. For all
classes of assets, the Bank has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of the counterparties.
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As of September 30, 2011

Total

- Loan commitments and other credit related facilities

Credit exposures relating to off-balance sheet items:
- Financial guarantees

Investment securities:
- Loans and receivables
- Held-to-maturity investments
- Available-for-sale investments – government securities (quoted)
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

Due from banks and other financial institutions

–
–
44,305,618

10,471,181
330,550,726

44,305,618

318,297,545

1,782,000

41,876,919
200,000
1,737,258
–
–

491,441

Other
Caribbean
$

58,357
3,037,600
–
313,134,293
34,100

2,033,195

Antigua &
Barbuda
$

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure … continued

12,856,734

–

–

12,856,734

–
–
–
–
–

12,856,734

North
America
and Europe
$

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets:

3.1.4

3. Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011
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387,713,078

10,471,181

1,782,000

375,459,897

41,935,276
3,237,600
1,737,258
313,134,293
34,100

15,381,370

Total
$
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–
–
16,626,446

358,116,790

Total

16,626,446

345,832,115

27,000
12,257,675

–
4,325,000
–
12,266,670

34,776

Other
Caribbean
$

58,357
–
340,058,881
3,939,036

1,775,841

Antigua &
Barbuda
$

Credit exposures relating to off-balance sheet items:
- Financial guarantees
- Loan commitments and other credit related facilities

Investment securities:
- Loans and receivables
- Held-to-maturity investments
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

Due from banks and other financial institutions

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets:

As of October 18, 2010

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure ... continued

3,072,699

–
–

3,072,699

–
–
–
–

3,072,699

North
America
and Europe
$

3.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements ..continued

3. Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011
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377,815,935

27,000
12,257,675

365,531,260

58,357
4,325,000
340,058,881
16,205,706

4,883,316

Total
$
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3. Financial risk management... continued
3.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements … continued
Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure ... continued
Economic risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio were as follows:
September 30
2011
$

%

Public sector

176,194,455

56.0%

160,792,276

47.1%

Personal

120,055,080

38.1%

136,788,156

40.3%

Construction/Real Estate

7,323,603

2.3%

31,486,683

9.3%

Credit card advances

3,370,862

1.1%

4,494,327

1.4%

Professional

4,623,925

1.5%

2,721,207

0.8%

Other Industries

1,352,815

0.4%

1,532,105

0.5%

Manufacturing

1,352,130

0.4%

1,742,027

0.5%

497,498

0.2%

502,100

0.1%

314,770,368

100%

340,058,881

100%

Tourism
Total
3.1.5

October 18
2010
$

%

Loans and advances

Loans and advances are summarised as follows:

Loans and
advances to
customers
September 30
2011
$

Loans and
advances to
customers
October 18
2010
$

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

264,825,062
14,493,248
35,452,058

186,959,225
127,152,705
25,946,951

Gross

314,770,368

340,058,881

1,945,690
(38,220)
(3,543,545)

–
–
–

313,134,293

340,058,881

Interest receivable
Deferred loan origination fees
Less: allowance for impairment
Net
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3. Financial risk management... continued
3.1.5

Loans and advances … continued

Allocation of allowance for impairment:
Individually impaired
Portfolio allowance

Loans and
advances to
customers
September 30
2011
$

Loans and
advances to
customers
October 18
2010
$

(3,210,657)
(332,888)

–
–

(3,543,545)

–

The total impairment charge for loans and advances is $3,543,545 of which $3,210,657 relates to individually impaired
loans and the remaining amount of $332,888 represents the portfolio allowance. Further information on the impairment
allowance for loans and advances to customers is provided in note 8.
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Pass
Special mention

As of October 18, 2010

Pass
Special mention

As of September 30, 2011

3,132,384
1,571,745
4,704,129

3,500,942
–
3,500,942

Overdrafts
$

5,310,549

2,537,159

Credit cards
$

3,705,191
1,605,358

Overdrafts
$

2,537,159
–

Credit cards
$

76,047,666

72,131,215
3,916,451

Personal
$

72,780,594

67,050,376
5,730,218

Personal
$

18,221,412

17,734,001
487,411

Commercial
$

8,706,263

8,532,760
173,503

Commercial
$

84,485,076

–
84,485,076

Public sector
$

175,490,497

–
175,490,497

Public sector
$

(a) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to
the internal rating system adopted by the Bank.

3.1.5 Loans and advances … continued
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011
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Total
$

186,959,225

96,498,542
90,460,683

Total
$

264,825,062

81,825,486
182,999,576
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–

–
457,573

Fair value of collateral

Amount of over (under)
collateralisation

(22,767,698)

34,911,743

12,144,045

Personal
$
3,873,028
5,579,481
2,691,536

(5,085,374)

6,977,003

1,891,629

Commercial
$
1,754,568
107,661
29,400

–

–

–

Public sector
$
–
–
–

(27,395,499)

41,888,746

14,493,247

Total
$
5,941,662
5,729,100
2,822,485

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the fair value of collateral is based on valuation techniques commonly used for the
corresponding assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value is assessed by reference to market price or indices of similar assets.

–

–

457,573

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days

Overdrafts
$
–
–
–

Credit cards
$
314,066
41,958
101,549

As of September 30, 2011

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Late processing and other administrative delays on the side of the borrower can lead to a financial asset being past due but not
impaired. Therefore, loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired unless other information is available
to indicate the contrary. Gross amounts of loans and advances by class to customers that were past due but not impaired were as
follows:

3.1.5

3. Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011
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–

–
379,939

Fair value of collateral

Amount of under (over)
collateralisation

(33,018,178)

58,975,646

25,957,468

Personal
$
15,918,925
6,008,386
4,030,157

(3,135,817)

6,688,519

3,552,702

Commercial
$
2,462,433
187,809
902,460

22,906,597

74,356,000

97,262,597

Public sector
$
–
97,262,597
–

(12,867,459)

140,020,165

127,152,706

Total
$
18,381,358
103,838,731
4,932,617

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the fair value of collateral is based on valuation techniques commonly used for the
corresponding assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value is assessed by reference to market price or indices of similar assets.

–

–

379,939

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days

Overdrafts
$
–
–
–

Credit cards
$
–
379,939
–

As of October 18, 2010

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired ... continued

3.1.5

3. Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

-49-

Annual Report 2011

FINANCIAL STATEMENT • SEPTEMBER 30TH 2011

Amount of under (over) collateralisation

Fair value of collateral

Individual impaired loans and advances

As of September 30, 2011

2,410,667

–

53,538,937

24,019,704

Personal
$

(1,523,514) (29,519,233)

887,153

376,130

376,130

Over
drafts
$

Credit cards
$

(26,825,690)

36,994,761

10,169,071

Commercial
$

92,944,365

35,452,058

Total
$

– (57,492,307)

–

–

Public sector
$

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class, along with the fair value of related collateral
held by the Bank as security is as follows:

The individually impaired loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held is
$35,452,058 (2010: $25,946,951).

(c) Loans and advances individually impaired

3.1.5 Loans and advances ... continued
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Over
drafts
$
2,974,911
2,022,851
952,060

Credit cards
$
613,446
–
613,446

(6,638,921)

24,859,263

18,220,342

(2,631,701)

6,769,953

4,138,252

Personal Commercial
$
$

–

–

–

Public sector
$

Renegotiated loans and advances to customers – individuals:
- Continuing to be impaired after restructuring
Loans to individuals:
- Non-impaired after restructuring – would otherwise have been impaired
- Non-impaired after restructuring – would otherwise not have been impaired

10,828,957

736,028
7,241,819

2,851,110

September 30
2011
$

Total
$

(7,705,116)

33,652,067

25,946,951

(d) Loans and advances renegotiated
Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management plans, modification and deferral of
payments. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria that, in the judgement of management, indicate that
payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review. Restructuring is most commonly applied to term loans.

Amount of under (over) collateralisation

Fair value of collateral

Individual impaired loans and advances

As of October 18, 2010

3.1.5 Loans and advances ... continued
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3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.1.6 Debt securities
There is no formal rating of the credit quality of bonds, treasury bills and equity investments. A number of qualitative
and quantitative factors are considered in assessing the risk associated with each investment. However, there is no
hierarchy of ranking. There are no external ratings of securities at the year end. The table below presents an analysis
of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by rating agency designation at September 30, 2011.
As of September 30, 2011
Loans and
receivables
$

Available for
sale
$

Held to
maturity
$

Total
$

Unrated

41,935,276

1,737,258

3,237,600

46,910,134

Total

41,935,276

1,737,258

3,237,600

46,910,134

Loans and
receivables
$

Available for
sale
$

Held to
maturity
$

Total
$

Unrated

58,357

–

4,325,000

4,383,357

Total

58,357

–

4,325,000

4,383,357

As of October 18, 2010
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3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.2

Market risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate,
currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the
level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank’s
exposure to market risk is from non-trading portfolios.
Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail and commercial banking
assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios also consist of equity price risks arising from the Bank’s available-for-sale
investment securities.

3.2.1

Price risk

Though the Bank’s investment portfolio includes securities that are quoted on the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange,
its exposure to securities price risk is minimal because the total of these securities is insignificant in relation to its statement
of financial position, and because of limited volatility in this market. The Bank does not hold securities that are quoted
on the world’s major securities markets. The Bank is not exposed to commodity price risk.

3.2.2

Foreign exchange risk

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial
position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both overnight
and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.
Most of the Bank’s assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are held in United States dollars. The exchange rate of the
Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.7 = US$1.00 since
1974. Therefore, there is no significant exposure to foreign exchange risk.
The following table summarises the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk as of September 30, 2011.
Included in the table are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.
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–
–
–
67,783,424
–
95,237,454

52,248,471
–
52,248,471
42,988,983
–

1,737,258
80,860
245,350,869
34,100
309,599,114

292,077,485
2,937,749
295,015,234
14,583,880
12,253,181

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet position

Credit commitments

–
15,665,278

3,237,600
26,269,998
25,000

365,005
11,423,747

USD
$

30,345,892
2,517,537

XCD
$

– Available-for-sale equity investments
– unquoted
– Available-for-sale debt investment
government securities – quoted
– Available-for-sale equity investments
– quoted
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

As at September 30, 2011
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Deposits with other banks and financial institutions
Investment securities:
– Held to maturity securities
– Loans and receivables

3.2.2 Foreign exchange risk ... continued
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–

833,906

–

–
–

833,906

–
–
–

–

–

–
–

10,909
822,997

EUR
$

–

360,940

–

–
–

360,940

–
–
–

–

–

–
–

33,210
327,730

GBP
$

–

325,476

–

–
–

325,476

–
–
–

–

–

–
–

36,117
289,359

Other
$

12,253,181

59,093,185

347,263,705

344,325,956
2,937,749

406,356,890

80,860
313,134,293
34,100

1,737,258

25,000

3,237,600
41,935,276

30,791,133
15,381,370

Total
$
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3.

73,219,435

300,297,937

257,659,857
4,373,342
3,000,000
47,869,339
16,600,000

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Customer deposits
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Provisions
Subscriptions for preference shares
Borrowings

40,963,739
7,143,844

(29,204,601)
5,140,831

Net on-balance sheet position

Credit commitments

32,255,696

329,502,538

Total financial liabilities

32,255,696
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
69,910,917
–

4,325,000
58,357
25,000
80,860
270,147,964
16,205,706

USD
$
230,528
3,077,990

XCD
$
7,841,014
1,614,036

Foreign exchange risk ... continued

As at October 18, 2010
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Deposits with other banks and financial institutions
Investment securities:
– Held to maturity investments
– Loans and receivables
– Available-for-sale equity investments – unquoted
– Available-for-sale equity investments – quoted
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

3.2.2

Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

Notes to Financial Statement

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

–

87,074

–

–
–
–
–
–

87,074

–
–
–
–
–
–

87,074
–

EUR
$

–

29,527

–

–
–
–
–
–

29,527

–
–
–
–
–
–

29,527
–

GBP
$

–

15,808

–

–
–
–
–
–

15,808

–
–
–
–
–
–

14,613
1,195

Other
$

12,284,675

11,891,547

361,758,234

289,915,553
4,373,342
3,000,000
47,869,339
16,600,000

373,649,781

4,325,000
58,357
25,000
80,860
340,058,881
16,205,706

8,202,756
4,693,221

Total
$
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3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.2.3 Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing
level of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such
changes but may reduce losses in the event unexpected movements arise. The Board sets limits on the level of mismatch
of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored by the ALCO Committee.
The following table summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial instruments at
carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

FINANCIAL STATEMENT • SEPTEMBER 30TH 2011

–
–
–
603,074
–
10,921,817

–
–
–
12,294,688
–
30,512,812

Total financial assets

–
48,445,947
(37,524,130)

–
119,687,079
(89,174,267)

Total financial liabilities

Total interest repricing gap

Other liabilities and accrued expenses

48,445,947

119,687,079

Liabilities
Customer deposits

10,318,743

–

–

1 to 3
Months
$

16,327,450

–

1,890,674

Under 1
Month
$

– Loans and receivables
– Available-for-sale equity securities –
unquoted
– Available-for-sale debt investments government securities – quoted
– Available-for-sale equity securities –
quoted
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

– Held to maturity investments

At September 30, 2011
Assets
Due from banks and other financial institutions
Investment securities:

3.2.3 Interest rate risk ... continued

3. Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

37,600

–

3 to 12
Months
$

(149,631,424)

165,672,807

–

165,672,807

16,041,383

–
2,722,778
–

–

–

13,281,005

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

16,223,545

10,520,123

–

10,520,123

26,743,668

–
21,535,590
–

–

–

2,008,078

3,200,000

–

1 to 5
Years
$

277,715,421

–

–

–

277,715,421

–
275,978,163
–

1,737,258

–

–

–

–

Over 5
Years
$

10,692,907

2,937,749

2,937,749

–

13,630,656

80,860
–
34,100

–

25,000

–

–

13,490,696

Non-interest
Bearing
$

28,302,052

347,263,705

2,937,749

344,325,956

375,565,757

80,860
313,134,293
34,100

1,737,258

25,000

41,935,276

3,237,600

15,381,370

Total
$
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778,641

15,814,478

Total financial assets

Total interest repricing gap

Total financial liabilities

Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Provisions
Subscriptions for preference shares
Borrowings

–
–
–
–
30,851,734
(30,073,093)

–
–
–
8,600,000
128,829,838
(113,015,360)

30,851,734

–
595,284
–

–
13,923,930
–

120,229,838

–

–

Liabilities
Customer deposits

125,000
58,357

–

1,890,548
–
–

1 to 3
months
$

Under 1
month
$

– Held to maturity investments
– Loans and receivables
– Available-for-sale equity
securities – unquoted
– Available-for-sale equity
securities – quoted
Loans and advances to customers
Other financial assets

At October 18, 2010
Assets
Due from banks and other financial
institution
Investment securities:

3.2.3 Interest rate risk ... continued

3. Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

(119,742,094)

122,410,368

–
–
–
–

122,410,368

2,668,274

–
2,668,274
–

–

–
–

–

3 to 12
months
$

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

18,917,764

16,423,613

–
–
–
–

16,423,613

35,341,377

–
31,141,377
–

–

4,200,000
–

–

1 to 5
years
$

291,730,016

–

–
–
–
–

–

291,730,016

–
291,730,016
–

–

–
–

–

Over 5
Years
$

(43,938,347)

63,242,681

4,373,342
3,000,000
47,869,339
8,000,000

–

19,304,334

80,860
–
16,205,706

25,000

–
–

2,992,768

Non-Interest
bearing
$

3,878,886

361,758,234

4,373,342
3,000,000
47,869,339
16,600,000

289,915,553

365,637,120

80,860
340,058,881
16,205,706

25,000

4,325,000
58,357

4,883,316

Total
$
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3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.2.3

Interest rate risk ... continued

Because of limited volatility in the securities markets in which the Bank’s investments are held, the Bank is not unduly
exposed to fair value interest rate risk.
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers, and other interest bearing assets at variable
rates. The interest rates on loans are fixed hence there is no exposure to cashflow interest rate risk.

3.3

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of customer deposits
being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other cash outflows, such as debt maturities or
margin calls for derivatives. Such outflows would deplete available cash resources for client lending, trading activities
and investments. In extreme circumstances, lack of liquidity could result in reductions in the statement of financial position
and sales of assets, or potentially an inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the bank will be unable to do
so is inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide events
including, but not limited to, credit events, merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural disasters.

3.3.1

Liquidity risk management process

The Bank’s liquidity management process is carried out by the Bank’s Board of Directors and Executive Management
Team. Oversight includes the following:
 Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. This includes
replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers.
 Maintaining the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory requirements;
 Monitoring the liquidity ratios of the statement of financial position against internal and regulatory requirements;
and
 Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.
Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement, and projections for the next day, week and month
respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for these projections is an analysis
of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets.
The ALCO Committee also monitors unmatched medium term assets, the level and type of undrawn lending commitments,
the usage of overdraft facilities and the impact of contingent liabilities such as standby letters of credit and guarantees.

3.3.2.

Funding approach

Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by management and the Board of Directors in order to maintain a wide
diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term.
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Non derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk
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48,766,715

122,593,978
61,053,350

Total financial liabilities (contractual maturity dates)

Assets held for managing liquidity risk (contractual
maturity dates)

7,760,944

–

2,874,059

Other liabilities and accrued expenses

48,766,715

1-3 months
$

119,719,919

Deposits from customers

As at September 30, 2011

Under 1
month
$

34,273,119

170,061,706

63,692

169,998,014

3-12 months
$

147,578,356

11,164,983

–

11,164,983

1-5 years
$

400,747,830

–

–

–

Over 5 years
$

The Bank does not anticipate any shortfalls during the next 12 months since its customers generally roll-over their term deposits
at maturity and no major withdrawals are anticipated for customer demand and savings accounts. Also, refer to liquidity risk
management note 3.3.1.

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual
maturities at the date of the statement of financial position. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows, whereas the Bank manages the inherent liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash flows.

3.3.3

3. Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

651,413,599

352,587,382

2,937,751

349,649,631

Total
$

-60-

Total financial liabilities (contractual maturity
dates)
Assets held for managing liquidity
risk (contractual maturity dates)

31,049,675
7,496,705

192,090,996
16,975,015

–

3,000,000

Provisions

–

47,869,339

Subscriptions for preference shares

–

–

31,049,675

16,600,000

4,373,342

120,248,315

1-3 months
$

Short term borrowings

Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Deposits from customers

Under
1 month
$

Non derivative cash flows … continued

As at October 18, 2010

3.3.3

3. Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

32,714,841

125,712,570

–

–

–

–

125,712,570

3-12 months
$

144,666,894

17,347,928

–

–

–

–

17,347,928

1-5 years
$

377,815,078

–

–

–

–

–

–

Over 5 years
$

579,668,533

366,201,169

3,000,000

47,869,339

16,600,000

4,373,342

294,358,488

Total
$
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September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.3.4

Assets held for managing liquidity risk

The Bank holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality financial assets to support payment obligations and
contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The Bank’s assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise of the
following:
 Unrestricted cash and balances due from banks;
 Loans and receivables investment securities; and
 Unimpaired loans and advances.

3.3.5

Off balance sheet items

(a) Credit commitments
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit to extend credit
to customers and other facilities are summarised in the table below.
(b) Financial guarantees
The Bank’s financial guarantees are also included in the table below based on the earliest contractual maturity date.
(c) Operating Lease Commitments
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as disclosed in note 20 are summarised in
the table below.
(d) Capital commitments
The Bank had no contractual capital commitments as of September 30, 2011.
Up to 1
year
$

1 to 5 years
$

Total
$

1,782,000

–

1,782,000

16,905

–

16,905

10,471,181

–

10,471,181

12,270,086

–

12,270,086

As at September 30, 2011
Financial guarantees
Operating lease commitments
Credit commitments
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3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.3.5

Off balance sheet items … continued
Up to 1
year
$

1 to 5 years
$

Total
$

27,000

–

27,000

442,620

11,720

454,340

12,257,675

–

12,257,675

12,727,295

11,720

12,739,015

As at October 18, 2010
Financial guarantees
Operating lease commitments
Credit commitments
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365,341,165

373,722,639

16,600,000
47,869,339
358,758,234

–
347,263,705

Subscription for preference shares

4,373,342
–

2,937,749

289,915,553

16,205,706

34,100

344,325,956

340,058,881

4,325,000
58,357

3,237,600
41,935,276
313,134,293

4,693,221

15,381,370

2010
$

Short term borrowings

Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Financial liabilities
Customer deposits

Other financial assets

Loans and advances to customers

Financial assets
Due from other banks and financial institutions
Investment securities:
– Held-to-maturity investments
– Loans and receivables

Carrying value
2011
$

347,982,140

–

–

2,937,749

345,044,391

377,007,459

34,100

316,419,113

3,237,600
41,935,276

15,381,370

Fair value
2011
$

358,758,234

47,869,339

16,600,000

4,373,342

289,915,553

365,341,165

16,205,706

340,058,881

4,325,000
58,357

4,693,221

2010
$

(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair value.
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities not presented on the
statement of financial position at their fair values.

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Financial risk management... continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED
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3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.4

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities ... continued

(a) Financial instruments measured at fair value ... continued
(i) Due from banks and other financial institutions
Amounts due from banks and other financial institutions include inter-bank placements and items in the course
of collection. The carrying amount of floating rate placements and overnight deposits is a reasonable
approximation of fair value. The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted
cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.
(ii) Loans and advances to customers
The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows
expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.
(iii) Investment securities
The fair value for loans and receivables, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity assets is based on market prices or broker/
dealer price quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated for the debt investment securities
based on discounted cash flows using prevailing market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.
(iv) Deposits from banks and due to customers and other borrowings
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is
the amount repayable on demand. The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits not quoted in an
active market is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity.

3.4.1

Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable
inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:
 Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes listed debt instruments
listed on exchanges.
 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
 Level 3 – Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). This
level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable components.
The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant and observable
market prices in its valuations where possible.
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3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.4.2

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

Financial assets
Investment securities:
– Available-for-sale equity investments – unquoted
– Available-for-sale debt investments – quoted
– Available-for-sale equity investments – quoted

–
80,860

25,000
1,737,258
–

25,000
1,737,258
80,860

Total assets

80,860

1,762,258

1,843,118

Reconciliation of level 3 items

Available for sale financial
assets
Debt
Equity
securities
securities
$
$

Opening balance as of October 18, 2010

Total
$

–

25,000

25,000

Transfers into Level 3

1,737,258

–

1,737,258

At 30 September 2011

1,737,258

25,000

1,762,258

(2,262,742)

–

(2,262,742)

Total losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets
held at September 30, 2011
3.5 Capital management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than ‘equity’ on the face of the statement of
financial position, are:
 To comply with the capital requirements set by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (the ECCB);
 To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders; and
 To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored quarterly by the Bank’s management employing
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and the European Community Directives, as
implemented by the ECCB, for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the ECCB on a quarterly
basis.
The ECCB requires all banks under its jurisdiction to: (a) hold the minimum level of regulatory capital of $5,000,000
and (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets (‘the Basel ratio’) at or above the
internationally agreed minimum of 8%.
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3.

Financial risk management... continued
3.5

Capital management ... continued

The Bank’s regulatory capital as managed by senior management is divided into two tiers:
 Tier 1 capital: share capital (net of any book values of treasury share), general bank reserves, statutory reserve,
retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings.
 Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealised gains arising
on the fair valuation of securities held as available-for-sale.
The risk weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the nature
of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and counterparty, taking
into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with
some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.
The following table summarises the composition of the regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank as at September
30, 2011. At this date the Bank complied with all the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are
subject.

Tier 1 capital

September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

Common share capital

24,000,000

24,000,000

Preference share capital

47,869,339

–

Retained earnings

(3,896,418)

–

Reserve for loan loss impairment

1,386,784

–

Reserve for interest on non-performing loans

1,256,921

–

Customer lists intangible asset

(1,846,364)

–

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital

68,770,262

24,000,000

Tier 2 capital
General loan loss provisions

332,888

–

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital

332,888

–

69,103,150

24,000,000

On-balance sheet

127,783,737

151,034,000

Off-balance sheet

12,253,181

12,284,675

140,036,918

163,318,675

Total regulatory capital
Risk weighted assets

Total risk weighted assets
Basel ratio

49%

15%
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Bank’s financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and
management judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of preparation of the financial statements.
The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year. All estimates and assumptions required in conformity with IFRS are best estimates undertaken in accordance
with the applicable standard. Estimates and judgements are evaluated on a continuous basis, and are based on past
experience and other factors, including expectations with regard to future events.
Accounting policies and management’s judgements for certain items are especially critical for the Bank’s results and
financial situation due to their materiality.

i) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Bank makes judgements as to whether there is any
observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified in that portfolio. This evidence may include
observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group,
or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the Bank. Management uses estimates based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those
in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the
amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and
actual loss experience. Were the net present value of estimated cash flows to differ by +/-10% the impairment loss is
to be estimated $436,774 higher or $621,191 lower.

ii) Impairment of Government of St. Kitts and Nevis bond
The Bank determines that available-for-sale debt investments are impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more loss events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset which has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
In making this judgement, the Bank evaluates objective evidence of impairment, which may include observable data
indicating significant financial difficulty of the issuer and breach of contract such as default or delinquency in interest
and principal payments. Subsequent to the year end, the Government of St. Kitts and Nevis defaulted on the interest
payment on the bond and made an offer to exchange the bond for new bonds under terms that were unfavourable
to the Bank. Management has used the discounted cash flow analysis to estimate the fair value of the new bond. The
assumption used in the discounted cash flow analysis is the discount rate, which is based on the estimated market interest
rate for the new bond. The impairment provision would be an estimated $198,676 higher or $267,781 lower were the
discount rate used in the discount cash flow analysis to differ by +/- 3% from management’s estimates.
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5. Cash and balances with the Central Bank
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

Cash on hand
Balances with ECCB other than mandatory reserves

4,787,464
11,296,892

2,914,763
–

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 22)
Mandatory reserve deposits with the ECCB

16,084,356
14,706,777

2,914,763
5,287,993

Total cash and balances with the Central Bank

30,791,133

8,202,756

Commercial banks doing banking business in member states of the Organization of the Eastern Caribbean States are
required to maintain a non-interest bearing reserve with the ECCB equivalent to a minimum 6% of their total deposit
liabilities (excluding inter-bank deposits and foreign currencies). This reserve deposit is not available for use in the Bank’s
day-to-day operations.

6. Due from banks and other financial institutions

Operating accounts with other banks

September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

11,718,750

1,642,109

Items in the course of collection from other banks

1,771,946

–

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 22)

13,490,696

1,642,109

1,890,674

3,051,112

15,381,370

4,693,221

Restricted deposits
Total due from banks and other financial institutions

Operating accounts with other banks and financial institutions represent ordinary cash deposits made with other banks.
The amount due from international banks and other financial institutions includes a restricted deposit due from Visa
International of $1,890,674 that is primarily used as security for the credit card operations and is not available for
use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations.
Balances held with shareholder banks as of September 30, 2011 amounted to $540,936.
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7.

Investment securities
Loans and receivables investment securities
Nominal value
2011
$

Cost
2011
$

Nominal value
2010
$

Cost
2010
$

Treasury bills at amortized cost – OECS
Governments with maturity dates from
October 2011 to November 2011 and
interest rates ranging from 3.99% to
8%

13,019,500

12,855,305

59,500

58,357

Included in cash and cash equivalents
(note 22)

13,019,500

12,855,305

59,500

58,357

Treasury bills at amortized cost - OECS
Governments with maturity dates from
February 2012 to September 2012
and interest rates ranging from 5.23%
to 6.25%

6,700,000

6,700,000

–

–

–

231,183

–

–

19,719,500

19,786,488

59,500

58,357

Treasury bills

Interest receivable
Total treasury bills
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September 30, 2011
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7.

Investment securities … continued
Loans and receivables investment securities … continued
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

St. Kitts Nevis Anguilla National Bank, maturing on October 5,
2011 with an interest rate of 3.5%

4,037,500

–

Bank of St. Lucia, maturing on October 6, 2011 with an interest
rate of 1.5%

8,243,738

–

12,281,238

–

2,700,000

–

46,562

–

15,027,800

–

2,008,078

–

10,300

–

2,018,378

–

Term Deposits

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 22)
Bank of St. Lucia, maturing on September 14, 2012 with an
interest rate of 4.25%
Interest receivable

Fixed rate note
Government of St. Lucia, maturing on March 31, 2013 with an
interest rate of 6.25%
Interest receivable
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7.

Investment securities … continued
Loans and receivables investment securities … continued
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

5,057,260

–

45,350

–

5,102,610

–

Total loans and receivables investments

41,935,276

58,357

Total principal

41,601,881

58,357

333,395

–

41,935,276

58,357

39,927,198

–

2,008,078

–

41,935,276

58,357

Available-for-sale – unquoted
Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange Limited
2,500 Class ‘C’ shares (2,500 shares with cost of $10 each)

25,000

25,000

Available-for-sale – quoted
Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank
622 shares at market value of $160 per share

80,860

80,860

4,000,000

–

(2,262,742)

–

1,843,118

105,860

Fixed income paper
First Citizens Investments Services Limited, maturing on October 12, 2011
with an interest of 4.25% (note 22)
Interest receivable

Interest receivable

Current portion
Non-current portion

Available-for-sale – Government securities (quoted)
Government of St. Kitts Bonds, maturing on November 25, 2012 with an
interest rate of 7.5%
Provision for impairment
Total available-for-sale investment securities
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7.

Investment securities … continued
Available-for-sale investments
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

–

4,000,000

200,000

200,000

3,000,000

–

37,600

125,000

3,237,600

4,325,000

Summary of investment securities
Total principal, net of impairment provision
Total interest receivable

46,644,999
370,995

4,364,217
125,000

Total investment securities

47,015,994

4,489,217

Current
Non-current

41,702,056
5,313,938

183,357
4,305,860

Total investments

47,015,994

4,489,217

Held-to-maturity investments
Government of St. Kitts Bonds, maturing on November 25, 2012, with
interest rate of 7.5%
Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank Bonds, maturing on July 1,
2013, with an interest rate of 6.1%
Government of Antigua and Barbuda Bonds, maturing on July 28,
2016 with an interest rate of 7.5%
Interest receivable
Total held to maturity investment securities
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80,860
–
–
4,000,000
(2,262,742)
–
1,818,118

25,000
–
–
–
–
–
25,000

Balance as at September 30, 2011

Available-forsale- (quoted)
$

Opening balance as at October 18,
2010
Purchase of investments
Disposal of investments
Reclassification of investments
Impairment of investments
(Decrease)/increase in interest
receivable, net

Available-forsale-(unquoted)
$

3,237,600

(87,400)

4,325,000
3,000,000
–
(4,000,000)
–

Held-tomaturity
$

41,935,276

333,395

58,357
53,523,584
(11,980,060)
–
–

Loans and
receivables
$

The following table shows carrying values at September 30, 2011 and fair values of the assets reclassified:

On September 30, 2011, the Bank reclassified certain financial assets originally classified as held-to-maturity as they
will be settled at an amount significantly below the amortised cost.

The Bank considers an investment to be impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset. The Bank
has therefore reclassified certain assets into the corresponding categories allowed by the amendments to IAS 39 and
IFRS 7.

7. Investment securities … continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011
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EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

47,015,994

245,995

4,489,217
56,523,584
(11,980,060)
–
(2,262,742)

Total
$
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8.

Loans and advances to customers
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

Demand loans
Mortgage loans
Non performing loans and advances
Rebate loans
Overdrafts
Credit card advances

211,110,805
53,693,814
35,452,058
6,208,413
5,310,546
2,994,732

273,972,006
41,131,637
–
12,780,641
7,680,270
4,494,327

Deferred loan origination fees
Interest receivable
Allowance for losses on loans and advances

314,770,368
(38,220)
1,945,690
(3,543,545)

340,058,881
–
–
–

Net loans and advances to customers

313,134,293

340,058,881

Current
Non-current

16,354,066
296,780,227

17,187,488
322,871,393

313,134,293

340,058,881

Roll forward of allowance for losses on loans and advances

September 30
2011
$

Balance at beginning of period
Provision for loan impairment
Loans written-off during the period as uncollectible

–
3,651,408
(107,863)

Balance at end of period

3,543,545

According to the ECCB loan provisioning guidelines, the calculated allowance for loan impairment amounts to $4,930,428
and the difference of $1,386,784 between this figure and the provision for loan impairment calculated under IAS 39
has been set aside as a specific reserve in equity, see note 18.
According to the ECCB prudential guidelines, interest income is not accrued for loans that are non- performing. The
accrued interest of $1,256,921 on non-performing loans has been set aside as a specific reserve in equity, see note 18.
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September 30, 2011
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

9.

Other assets
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

32,503
–
1,597

83,300
16,000,000
122,406

34,100

16,205,706

861,818
189,470

1,140,652
789,959

1,051,288

1,930,611

Total other assets

1,085,388

18,136,317

Current

1,085,388

18,136,317

Financial Assets
Accounts receivable
Shareholder subscription receivable
Other receivables

Non financial assets
Prepayments
Prepaid purchases
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2,153,500
–
–
2,153,500

2,153,500
–
2,153,500

51,740

51,740
–
51,740

Net book amount

At September 30, 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Land
$

51,740
–
–

Artwork
$

Period ended September 30, 2011
Opening cost at October 18, 2010
Additions
Depreciation charge

10. Property, plant and equipment

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

September 30, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

988,188

1,048,273
(60,085)

988,188

1,048,273
–
(60,085)

Buildings
$

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

598,512

707,359
(108,847)

598,512

440,184
267,175
(108,847)

Furniture
fixtures &
equipment
$

2,131,212

2,608,182
(476,970)

2,131,212

1,627,659
980,523
(476,970)

Computer
equipment
$

206,125

255,000
(48,875)

206,125

255,000
–
(48,875)

Motor
vehicles
$

6,129,277

6,824,054
(694,777)

6,129,277

5,576,356
1,247,698
(694,777)

Total
$

-77-

Annual Report 2011

EASTERN CARIBBEAN AMALGAMATED BANK LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

-78-

September 30, 2011
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11.

12.

Intangible assets

Computer
software
$

Customer
lists
$

Total
$

Period ended September 30, 2011
Opening cost October 18, 2010
Additions
Amortization charge

2,570,486
519,742
(593,716)

2,031,000
–
(184,636)

4,601,486
519,742
(778,352)

Net book amount

2,496,512

1,846,364

4,342,876

At September 30, 2011
Cost
Accumulated amortization

3,090,228
(593,716)

2,031,000
(184,636)

5,121,228
(778,352)

Net book amount

2,496,512

1,846,364

4,342,876

Customers’ deposits

September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

Time deposits
Savings accounts
Current accounts

242,779,155
56,687,801
39,782,722

176,166,401
61,397,122
47,822,408

Interest payable

339,249,678
5,076,278

285,385,931
4,529,622

Total customers’ deposits

344,325,956

289,915,553

Current
Non-current

334,005,414
10,320,542

273,491,940
16,423,613

344,325,956

289,915,553

Included in the customers’ deposits at year end are deposits from related parties amounting to $19,831,612 as disclosed in
note 21.
Included in the customers’ deposits at year end are deposits from other financial institutions, excluding shareholder banks
amounting to $11,165,540.
Deposits held as collateral for loans and advances amounted to $12,973,022
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13. Other liabilities and accrued expenses
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

Drafts outstanding
Trade payables and accrued expenses
Other Payables

1,550,847
1,323,210
63,692

1,845,436
2,527,906
–

Total other liabilities and accrued expenses

2,937,749

4,373,342

Current

2,937,749

4,373,342

14. Short term borrowings
$
Balance at beginning of period
Repayments during the period
Borrowings converted into fixed deposits

16,600,000
(10,600,000)
(6,000,000)
–

Balance at end of period
The short term borrowings at the opening balance sheet date were allocated as follows:
Lombard Loans from ECCB
Deposit from Antigua Commercial Bank
Deposit from National Bank of Dominica
Deposit from ECFH
Deposit from St. Kitts, Nevis, Anguilla National Bank
Total borrowings at opening balance sheet date

$
8,600,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
16,600,000

All borrowings were payable to the shareholders of the Bank. The borrowings received from shareholders were noninterest bearing and had no fixed repayment terms.
Following were the terms of the Lombard loans from Eastern Caribbean Central Bank:
$1,000,000 @ 6.5% maturing on 21/10/10
$3,600,000 @ 6.5% maturing on 12/11/10
$4,000,000 @ 6.5% maturing on 12/11/10
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14. Short term borrowings … continued
The amounts which were due to Eastern Caribbean Financial Holding Ltd, National Bank of Dominica and St. KittsNevis-Anguilla National Bank were converted into fixed one year interest bearing deposits. The amounts which were
due to Eastern Caribbean Central Bank and Antigua Commercial Bank were repaid during the period.
Following are the terms of the amounts converted into fixed deposits:
 National Bank of Dominica: $2,000,000 @5% maturing on 18/10/11.
 St. Kitts Nevis, Anguilla National Bank: $2,000,000 @5% maturing on 10/12/11.
 ECFH: $2,000,000 @5% maturing on 18/10/11.

15. Provisions and contingent liabilities
$
Balance at October 18, 2010
Settlement claim–
Write-off of excess accrual
Provision at September 30, 2011

3,000,000
(2,476,134)
(523,866)
–

A provision of $3,000,000 was recognized in the opening statement of financial position as at October 18, 2010. The
provision was comprised of a guarantee assumed by the Bank for pending legal claims in which Caribbean Star Airlines
Limited was a defendant. The Bank assumed a guarantee on behalf of Caribbean Star Airlines to support a Bond in
favour of Caribbean Star Airlines’ employees as part of an order made by the Industrial Court. The full amount of the
guarantee was $3,000,000. However, the actual amount incurred during the period to settle the claim amounted to
$2,476,134 based on the judgments confirmed in December 2010. The excess accrued of $523,866 has been included
in other income within the statement of comprehensive income during the period.

Pending litigation
A legal claim was filed against the Bank in February 2011 by a former employee of Bank of Antigua Limited for
$430,312 relating to unpaid pension fund. Subsequent to the year end the court provided a judgement on the case that
was in favour of the Bank. However, this has subsequently been appealed by the former employee. No significant loss
is expected to arise from this pending claim.
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16. Share capital
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

–
–

–
–

Issued and fully paid:
240,000 common shares issued at $100 each

24,000,000

24,000,000

100,000 preference shares issued at $478.69 each

47,869,339

–

Authorised share capital:
710,000 common shares at no par value
100,000 preference shares at no par value

17. Subscriptions for preference shares
The subscriptions for preference shares were made by the Government of Antigua and Barbuda. As at the opening
balance sheet date, the preference shares were not yet issued. According to the shareholders agreement, the preference
shares will be convertible, redeemable and non cumulative. The rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions for the
preference shares outlined in the shareholders agreement are as follows:
 Preference share holders are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Board and in the
priority of disbursements and distributions as set forth in the by-laws paid out of the net profits of the Bank at
3.5% of par value;
 Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Bank, the preference shares will rank highest in priority
of all shareholdings; and
 Preference shares shall be liquidated in accordance with the terms and conditions contained in a promissory
noted dated July 8, 2010, executed between the Government of Antigua and Barbuda and the Bank of Antigua
Limited, which matures on July 31, 2012.
Subsequent to October 18, 2010, the Government of Antigua and Barbuda passed a Cabinet resolution on July 6,
2011 to remove the clause requiring the liquidation of the preference shares by July 31, 2012 from the shareholders
agreement to facilitate its amendment and to allow classification of the preference shares as “equity” upon issuance.
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18.

Other reserves
September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

Regulatory reserve for loan impairment
Regulatory reserve for interest on non-performing loans

1,386,784
1,256,921

–
–

Total

2,643,705

–

(a) Reserve for loan impairment
This reserve is created to set aside the amount by which the loan loss provision calculated under the Prudential
Guidelines of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank exceeds the loan loss provision calculated in accordance with IAS
39. The excess is therefore set aside in a reserve and is not available for distribution to the shareholders.
(b) Reserve for interest on non-performing loans
This reserve is created to set aside interest accrued on non-performing loans where certain conditions are met in
accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39. The prudential guidelines of the Eastern Caribbean
Central Bank, however do not allow for the accrual of such interest. The interest is therefore set aside in a reserve
and is not available for distribution to the shareholders.
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19. Business combination
On October 18, 2010, Eastern Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited acquired certain assets and liabilities from the
Bank of Antigua Limited by way of a Purchase and Assumption Agreement.
The following table summarises the consideration paid and the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at the acquisition date.
Total Purchase Consideration at October 18, 2010
October 18
2010
$
Cash paid

1

Total consideration

1

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
October 18, 2010
Loans and advances to customers
Cash and balances with the Central Bank
Property, plant and equipment
Due from other banks and financial institutions
Intangible assets
Investment securities
Other assets
Provisions
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Advances
Customer deposits

340,058,881
8,202,756
5,576,356
4,693,221
4,601,486
4,489,217
2,136,317
(3,000,000)
(4,373,342)
(72,469,338)
(289,915,553)

Total identifiable net assets

1

Goodwill

–

Total purchase consideration paid

1

Purchase consideration settled in cash
Cash and cash equivalents in net assets acquired (note 22)

1
(4,615,229)

Cash inflow on acquisition

(4,615,228)
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20.

Commitments
a) Credit commitments and others

Guarantees
Undrawn Commitments – Loans and overdrafts
Undrawn Commitments – Credits cards

September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

1,782,000
5,746,884
4,724,297

27,000
5,113,831
7,143,844

12,253,181

12,284,675

b) Operating lease commitments
•

•

The Bank is party to a lease agreement that expired on March 31, 2011 for the Bank’s premises located at 1000
Airport Boulevard, Coolidge, St. John’s, Antigua. The annual rent is EC$900,000. The lease was not renewed during
the period.
The Bank is party to a lease agreement expiring on December 31, 2011 for the Bank’s premises located at Nelsons
Dockyard, English Harbour, Antigua. The monthly rental is $5,635.

The future minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

No later than one year
Later than one year, but no later than five years
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September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

16,905
–

442,620
11,720

16,905

454,340
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September 30, 2011
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21. Related parties
Loans to related parties

Loans to Government of Antigua and Barbuda
Loans to key management personnel

Interest rate

September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

8.0 – 9.8%
7.0%

176,194,455
823,972

182,358,107
861,461

177,018,427

183,219,568

The loans to shareholders and key management personnel are secured by assets including cash and property. Interest
income earned on shareholders’, directors’ and key members of management’s loans and advances during the year is
$15,449,690. The average interest rate on these loans is 8.1%.
Deposit from related parties

Deposits from directors
Deposits from shareholders
Deposits from key management personnel

Interest rate

September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

3.0%
4.50 – 6.25%
0 – 5.75%

108,066
18,182,526
1,541,020

64,757
11,259,394
273,244

19,831,612

11,597,395

Interest expense paid on shareholders’, directors’ and key members of management’s deposits during the year is
$837,426. The average interest rate on these deposits is 4.1%.
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21. Related parties … continued
Remuneration of key management personnel

Salaries and allowances
Directors fees
Social Security and Medical Benefits costs
Other staff costs

September 30
2011
$
1,284,586
218,021
42,686
14,014
1,559,307

22. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following:

Cash on hand (note 5)
Operating accounts due from local banks (note 6)
Treasury bills (note 7)
Fixed rate note maturing in 90 days or less (note 7)
Term deposits maturing in 90 days or less (note 7)
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September 30
2011
$

October 18
2010
$

16,084,356
13,490,696
12,855,305
5,057,260
12,281,238

2,914,763
1,642,109
58,357
–
–

59,768,855

4,615,229
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September 30, 2011
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23. Interest income and interest expense
September 30
2011
$
Interest income
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Short term deposits

28,299,717
1,115,533
1,795

Total interest income

29,417,045

Interest expense
Demand accounts
Savings accounts
Fixed deposits
Borrowings

302,186
1,552,235
9,540,486
93,401

Total interest expense

11,488,308

Net interest income

17,928,737

24. Net fee income
September 30
2011
$
Fee income
Credit related fees
Service charge – deposits
Foreign exchange gain/losses
Other fees and commission

255,401
1,189,821
817,064
2,931,444

Total fee income

5,193,730

Fee expense
Bank charges
Credit card expenses
Other fees – expenses

347,822
2,183,535
2,374

Total fee expense

2,533,731

Net fee income

2,659,999
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25. Other income
September 30
2011
$
Write-back of over provision for legal settlement (note 15)
Recovery of credit card items written-off

523,866
540

Total other income

524,406

26. Personnel expenses
September 30
2011
$
Salaries and allowances
Other personnel expenses
Statutory contributions
Insurance contributions

6,403,762
528,847
430,783
148,719

Total personnel expenses

7,512,111

27. General and administrative expenses
September 30
2011
$
Administration costs
Rent expense
Marketing and public relations
Professional fees
Information technology
Repairs and maintenance
Telecommunications and postage
Insurance
Directors’ fees
Travel, conferences and meetings

1,526,186
1,152,824
1,071,038
1,012,067
930,298
522,789
485,264
446,304
218,021
101,674

Total general and administrative expenses

7,466,465
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

28. Income tax
The effective income tax rate for the period is 25%.
September 30
2011
$
Tax charge
(1,252,713)

Net loss for the period before taxation
Tax credit at effective rate
Under provision of deferred taxes
Effect of permanent differences
Tax losses carried forward

(313,178)
(132,658)
(312,737)
758,573
–

Tax charge for the period

Subsequent to the year end, on November 25, 2011, the Bank was granted an exemption from the payment of
corporate income tax for fifteen (15) years, with the ability to carry forward tax losses incurred in respect of that period
for periods of five (5) years for each tax year.

Deferred tax asset
At the year end, the company had a net deferred tax asset of $625,915 which was not recognized in the financial
statements. The deferred tax asset is comprised as follows:
September 30
2011
$
Tax losses
Deferred commissions on loans
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

758,573
9,555
(142,213)
625,915

Balance, end of year

Tax losses
The Bank has a loss for tax purposes of $3,034,293 which can be carried forward for 5 years after the tax
exemption period of fifteen years. The losses have not been agreed with the Commissioner of Inland Revenue nor
have they been disputed.
The losses expire as follows.

2031

$
3,034,293
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29. Events after the reporting period
Subsequent to the end of the financial reporting period, the Bank purchased the property at 1000 Airport Boulevard,
Coolidge, St. John’s, Antigua, for $12,250,000. This purchase was financed by a consortium loan from the shareholders
excluding the Government of Antigua and Barbuda.
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